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FOREWORD BY THE VICE CHANCELLOR
The University of Bedfordshire is proud of its mission to 
inspire our students and broaden horizons and opportunities. 
Our new Strategic Plan for 2017-20 launched at the end of 
the 2016/17 academic year and affirmed our focus on 
teaching excellence and the student experience, and on 
research and knowledge exchange that makes a real 
difference to business, public services and the community. 

The University has achieved significant progress during 2016/17, 
against a backdrop of considerable external turbulence. 

The university sector saw the first national Teaching Excellence 
Framework exercise, in which the University of Bedfordshire 
secured a Silver award, representing the judgement that our 
teaching is significantly and consistently above the standard 
expected in UK higher education. In determining the award a 
panel of independent assessors cited our curriculum framework, 
our systems for personalised learning, our personal academic 
tutoring and peer assisted learning schemes, our wraparound 
professional support services, our investment in the learning 
environment, and our recognition and reward for excellent teaching. 

In light of increased competition resulting from the removal of 
the cap on student numbers we took rapid steps to diversify 
income, launching a new Foundation Year and opening new Study 
Centres in partnership with London providers. As a result we 
saw an increase in full-time undergraduate numbers of 11% for 
the 16/17 application cycle, the 16th highest riser in the country. 

We launched the first of our new programme of higher and 
degree apprenticeships, winning a prestigious contract with 
Tesco to deliver higher apprenticeships in project management, 
a particular strength of the University. We anticipate an 
accelerating rollout of higher and degree apprenticeships over 
the next three years. 

The University entered the Times Higher Education World 
University Rankings for the first time in 2016, entering in the 
601-800 band, and ranking 64th among UK universities. Our 
strong performance on student satisfaction and graduate 
employability drove improvements across UK league tables, 
especially in the Guardian league table where we achieved 98th 
overall – a rise of 15 places, and 16th highest in the country on 
the value-added measure. 

The stunning state-of-the-art new library opened on our Luton 
campus, and ground was broken on the planned new iconic 
building devoted to Science, Technology, Engineering and 
Mathematics, representing the final stages of our £180 million 
estates investment strategy. 

The University rolled out business support programmes worth 
several million pounds to the region and secured the first 
Knowledge Transfer Partnership in over a decade. Our researchers 
also brought in funding for projects on policing cyber-harassment, 
building cultural awareness of health support robots and causes 
of human trafficking, among other exciting projects. 

I am pleased with our progress which transforms the lives of 
our students, their families and their communities and grateful 
to the University’s staff, students, Governors and stakeholders 
who make our work possible. I look forward to rolling out our 
ambitious strategy in 2017/18. 

Bill Rammell
Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive
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Operating and financial review

This Operating and Financial Review charts progress and achievements over the past year and considers 
the risks and challenges ahead, whilst continuing to realise our access mission and ambitions.

Charitable objectives

The University’s charitable objectives are derived from Section 124 of the Education Reform Act 1988. This 
bestows the University with the powers to provide higher education, conduct research and publish the 
results of research. The University is an exempt charity whose charitable activities are regulated by the 
Higher Education Funding Council for England.

The University is committed to the vision set out in its current strategic plan, which is to provide 
transformational opportunities through access to an excellent educational experience.

This vision is underpinned by a mission and charitable aim to create a vibrant, multicultural learning 
community, enabling people to transform their lives by participating in excellent, innovative education, 
scholarship and research.  

In setting and reviewing the University’s strategic objectives, the Board of Governors has had due regard for 
the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and particularly for its supplementary guidance on the 
advancement of education.

In delivering its mission, the University provides the following identifiable public benefits through the 
advancement of education:
• High-quality teaching and scholarship
• World-leading research
• Widening participation and tackling social exclusion
• Excellent employment record for graduates
• Strong student support systems
• Links with employers, industry and commerce. 

The University’s achievements against its charitable objectives is set out below.

Beneficiaries

The University’s main beneficiaries are its undergraduate and postgraduate students, who are engaged in 
learning and research. Other direct beneficiaries include employers, industry and those who benefit from its 
research. Other beneficiaries include our alumni and their families, our local communities, and businesses 
and organisations that receive our students as volunteers or as placements or interns. 

Achievement of charitable objectives

The University’s achievements in 2016/17 include the following activities that demonstrate its public benefit:

Teaching

We develop people through their learning and help them to acquire the skills to make a more meaningful 
and effective contribution to society through their leadership, their enhanced abilities and knowledge, and 
their innovation and creativity. This helps to ensure that society, industry, commerce and the public services 
have access to people with the right skills and attributes to ensure their success.

Our excellent teaching and support to our students is driven by our dedicated and professional academic 
and professional services staff.

In 2016/17:
• We provided quality higher education to over 19,800 undergraduate and postgraduate students. 
• We provided more than 530 courses that together address demand from students, employers and 
 society. Many of these courses serve specific industries and social needs. For example, we trained over 
 1,500 health and social care professionals and over 700 teachers during 2016/17.
• We were awarded Silver in the first ever Teaching Excellent Framework (TEF).
• Close to 80% of our staff had or were working towards accreditation of their teaching practice by the 
 Higher Education Academy.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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Research

We are committed to the discovery and expansion of knowledge and to delivering this knowledge for the 
benefit of society. We also train and develop skilled and able researchers to contribute to the ongoing 
development and capacity of research activity with academia and industry to improve economic, social 
and cultural wealth.  

Almost half of the University’s research was assessed as world leading or internationally excellent in the 
most recent Research Excellence Framework (REF) assessment. The proportion of world leading research 
which was assessed as world leading doubled compared to the previous REF in 2008.

In 2016/17:
• Income from research activity, including fees from research students, amounted to £7.6m. This 
 demonstrates the increasing importance, value and impact of the University’s research activity to 
 sponsors and society in general.
• The University had over 280 registered research students. This demonstrates the increasing 
 attractiveness of research study options provided by the University to new researchers.
• The University has demonstrated the public benefits of its research through providing advice and 
 expertise to government bodies, local authorities and others in areas as diverse as international child 
 trafficking, refugees and migrants, health inequalities, gang culture and knife crime, child protection, 
 cyber-security, communications policy, media analysis and criminal justice. 
• University staff received significant media attention for their research, particularly a high-profile 
 international project on culturally competent health assistance robots, and a project on 3D printing of 
 prosthetic limbs.

Multicultural and diverse learning community

The University aims to create a student body and multicultural learning environment that is balanced and 
diverse. This leads to an inclusivity that embraces individual differences, promotes equality and provides 
an equal opportunity for all to achieve their full potential, regardless of background or ethnic origin.

In 2016/17:
• Students from over 130 countries studied at the University. This included more than 8,300 students 
 from outside the EU of which 5,400 studied at overseas partner institutions. Our student population 
 demonstrated a multicultural learning environment with 42% of our students declaring themselves as 
 white, 12% Asian, 22% black and 24% from mixed/other or unknown ethnic origins. 
• Our staff population is also multicultural. 73% declared themselves as white, 13% Asian, 6% black and 
 8% from mixed/other or unknown ethnic origins.

Widening participation

We encourage social mobility by raising aspirations to enter higher education and we tackle issues of social 
exclusion by providing an extensive outreach programme to widen participation in higher education and to 
stimulate interest in further study. This includes visits to schools and community centres and strong links 
with our partner colleges. 

In 2016/17:
• 9.5% of our full time undergraduates were from Low Participation Neighbourhoods (LPN) based on 
 POLAR3.
• 99.0% of our full-time undergraduates had attended state schools.

Employability

The University aims to ensure that all its students maximise their ability to secure satisfying, meaningful 
and rewarding careers and to make an effective contribution to the economic and social wealth of society.
• Our graduates enjoyed excellent employment rates and demonstrated the transformational experience 
 of studying at the University. The 2016/17 Destination of Leavers in Higher Education survey showed 
 that 92% of our graduates were either in employment or following paths of further study within six 
 months of graduation.
• We use ‘Prospects’ as a one-stop-shop to enable students to identify and secure employment and/or 
 volunteering opportunities. This provides access to around 3,000 vacancies at any one time and over 
 1,600 students have actively used the system in the last year. 

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
for the year ended 31 July 2017



UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS6

• Our Careers and Recruitment Service provides a job placement and advisory service that works with 
 students and graduates. This service is open-ended and, unlike most universities, we do not restrict 
 access to our service after two years from graduation. 
• Working with our Students’ Union we offer volunteering opportunities as part of a commitment to 
 citizenship, the community and service to society that will equip students throughout their working lives 
 and beyond. Our Bedfordshire Edge award programme enables students to gain formal recognition for 
 the learning that they gain through activities they undertake at the University, including volunteering, 
 part-time work, active roles in clubs and societies and acting as course representatives. 
• Our graduate intern scheme places graduates with local employers to meet specific business needs and 
 skills shortages within their business.

Student support 

The University aims to ensure that all students receive high-quality support that helps them to maximise
the quality of their learning experience and academic achievement. This, in turn, helps them to make a
better contribution to society and the economy as a result of their studies and experience.

In 2016/17:
• We have continued the investment plan for new estate developments that will support and enhance the
 learning experience of our students and the vibrancy of our learning community, including completing
 the construction of a new Library and commencing a project for a new Science, Technology, Engineering 
 and Maths (STEM) building.
• The Student Information Desk (SiD) continued to provide a one-stop-shop for all student services and
 support needs. During the year, it dealt with more than 120,000 student enquiries.

Links with employers, industry and commerce

We provide high quality training, continuing professional development, consultancy and applicable research 
that helps to stimulate and sustain economic growth and tackles social disparities and disadvantages; that 
assists and fosters regeneration and community cohesion; and informs public policy and the professions. 
This contributes to the economic, social and cultural wealth of society.

Many of our courses are accredited by professional bodies and we offer an employer focused curriculum
that is specifically designed in conjunction with employers to meet the needs of industry and maximise the
employability skills of our students.

We support small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) and start-up companies and are committed to
assisting fledgling businesses by providing free lectures such as the Basics of Building a Business series –
offering entrepreneurs the chance to learn essential business skills.

In 2016/17:
• We maintained and enhanced strong, close links with more than 1,500 UK companies. These links
 include the provision of training, consultancy, sponsorship and applicable research.
• We provided over 14,500 learner days through CPD courses.

Other public benefits

The University has an economic impact that is worth almost £300million to the local economy. We have 
a strong ‘town and gown’ relationship and meet regularly with representatives from the respective town 
councils to work together to improve our environments as places to live, work and study. The University 
is also committed to playing a meaningful role in its local communities by developing partnerships which 
benefit the community, those who live within the community and the University. The University supports a 
range of community activities, including Luton Town Football Club, Bedford Blues, the Bedford River Festival 
and the Milton Keynes Theatre. The University’s theatre and sports facilities are available for public use.

Tackling harm and detriment

The University does not believe that any detriment or harm arises from its activities. It has a well-publicised
policy for handling and resolving student complaints and a robust research ethics policy. The University also 
has an environmental strategy and associated policies that promote sustainability and the protection of the 
environment across the entire breadth of its activities. For example, we have specific policies on energy 
reduction and on recycling. All new buildings are expected to achieve Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) ‘excellent’ standard and existing buildings are refurbished 
to improve their environmental efficiency.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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Incidental private benefits

The University has policies to deal with activities 
that may lead to incidental private benefits. Private
consultancy is not permitted by University staff. 
Once concluded, unless otherwise contractually 
required, all research completed by staff is placed 
in the public domain.

Tackling barriers

The University offers excellent, innovative education 
and research to all who are able to demonstrate 
that they have the required attributes to benefit 
from these activities. Like all higher education 
providers, the University is obliged to charge tuition 
fees but offers a generous bursary scheme and scholarships for those who face financial difficulties. It also 
directs students and helps them to identify other sources of financial support such as student loans. Specific
help is provided to disabled students to enable them to apply for Disabled Student Allowances and a range 
of services, equipment and specialist software for disabled students are also available within the University 
to support their learning. All prospective students are alerted to the availability of financial support, either 
through our own scholarship and bursary schemes or through external sources of support such as student 
loans. The University applies no geographical restrictions to its activities and students and staff are recruited 
from across the UK and internationally. The University delivers provision to students based in the UK and 
in other countries. University staff demonstrate commitment to the widening participation mission of the 
University through the support they offer to students.

Academic excellence

The University has an excellent academic reputation, as recognised by the following:
• Silver award in the TEF.
• The Quality Assurance Agency has expressed full confidence in their last full audit in the University’s
 processes for assuring quality and in its standards and:
 – commended the enhancement of student learning opportunities
 – identified a number of areas of good practice; and
 – concluded that the University meets expectations in relation to academic standards, the quality of
  student learning opportunities and the quality of information about learning opportunities.
• OFSTED in its most recent inspection visit assessed the University’s Initial Teacher Training provision
 as ‘good’.
• The University was commended in the most recent Research Assessment Exercise for its world-leading
 and internationally excellent research in a number of fields including social work, sport, tourism and
 leisure, computer science and business and management studies.
• A number of University staff have received a National Teaching Fellowship for outstanding contributions
 to teaching and learning. 

Operating highlights and academic review

Student recruitment

In light of increased competition resulting from the removal of the cap on student numbers the University
took rapid steps to diversify income, launching a new Foundation Year and opening new Study Centres in
partnership with London providers. As a result full-time undergraduate numbers increased by 11% for the
2016/17 application cycle, making the University the 16th highest riser in the country.

Targets for NHS commissioned numbers were again achieved.

The University holds Highly Trusted Sponsor status for the recruitment of international students and its
systems and processes for complying with UK Government requirements continue to be assessed as 
robust by the UK Visas and Immigration Service. Nevertheless, international recruitment was again 
adversely affected by increasingly tighter visa requirements for non-EU students who wish to study in the
UK, particularly in countries where the University has previously been able to recruit strongly.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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Student satisfaction

Satisfaction with the University among final-year students as measured by the National Student Survey 2017 
was 82%. The survey is extremely robust, with 80% response rate among final-year students. New questions 
had been added to the 2017 survey, focusing on student engagement. The University was pleased to 
perform above the sector average for new questions on learning opportunities, learning community and 
student voice. The University also entered the upper quartile for satisfaction with learning resources.

Student experience

Improving the student experience is at the core of the University’s mission. Ongoing programmes and
initiatives include:
• The ‘Tell Us’ scheme. This enables students to provide compliments, comments or suggestions on an
 informal basis on any issue. Together this feedback has enabled areas of good practice to be more
 overtly recognised, and any areas of dissatisfaction to be more rapidly addressed.
• The Vice Chancellor’s Student Experience Awards to identify and celebrate success, with nominations
 being made by students themselves across a range of categories.
• ‘Go Global’, which gives students the opportunity to develop new skills, enhance their employability and
 gain valuable life experience through visits to China and Vietnam.
• A mobile app – MyBeds – which provides students with useful information about student life whilst they
 are on the move.
• The student shadowing scheme, which gives University staff and students the opportunity to understand 
 more about the experience of the University from the other’s point of view.

Student employability

The employability of students is a key focus of University activity and each academic department has an
employability map, as part of an overall EmployAble strategy.

This, together with support from the in-house Careers and Employability Service, means that 92% of
students are in work or undertaking further study within six months of graduating. 

Estates investment

The University has an Estates Strategy that sets out its goal of refreshing and improving its facilities for
students, from teaching rooms to living accommodation. This Strategy is prudently phased but is still
dependent on student recruitment levels and sound financial management.

Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM) building

The principal project during the year was the commencement of construction of a new £40million Science,
Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM) building at the Luton Campus.

Set out over four-storeys and incorporating 6000m2 of teaching and laboratory space, the building will allow
the University to offer a wide range of new science courses including Biochemistry, Nutritional Science,
Mechanical Engineering, Pharmacy and Optometry. It will also include a new Science and Engineering
Outreach Centre to promote the value of science and engineering to local schools and the wider Bedfordshire 
community. The building is scheduled to open in autumn 2019.

This investment further enhances the student experience and contributes to the regeneration of Luton town 
centre. This further addition to the investment undertaken in recent years supports the ongoing investment
in the student experience and the provision of 21st century environments to fully integrate with students’
learning needs and experiences.

Health teaching facilities

In summer 2017 the University also moved its Bedfordshire-based health teaching provision to its Luton town 
centre and Bedford campuses, ready for the start of teaching in October 2017. This co-location alongside 
other University teaching and faculties will provide these health professionals with access to enhanced 
services and facilities appropriate to a higher education environment.

Diversity and employment of disabled persons

The University is proud of the diverse nature of its employees. Employee recruitment and grading processes, 
together with programmes for employee involvement, communication and training are all designed to 
promote equal opportunity for all irrespective of age, sex, race, religion, colour or sexual orientation.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered. If existing employees
become disabled, every effort is made to continue their employment with the University and to arrange
appropriate training. It is the University’s policy that the training, career development and promotion of
disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees. 

Employee involvement and training

The University places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and on good communication
with them. Staff are informed through a variety of means, including: open fora with, and University-wide
communications from, the Vice Chancellor; the extensive University intranet; and staff magazines.

Staff are encouraged to participate in formal and informal consultations at University and unit level, through
membership of formal committees and informal working groups.

The University has an Organisational Development and Training Unit that is responsible for providing technical 
and general training to all levels of staff and to help build leadership.

Staff benefit from a biweekly e-newsletter showcasing their achievements and updating on progress within
the University.

During 2016-17 widespread consultation with staff took place on the development of the University’s new
Strategic Plan. A key pillar of the plan is contribution, innovation and development of University staff.

Financial strategy

The University’s financial strategy is designed to ensure its long term sustainability. The principal measures 
through which the University seeks to achieve this are:
• achieving recruitment and income targets;
• controlling pay and non-pay costs relative to income;
• achieving operating and net cash flow targets; and
• keeping net borrowings below three times net operating cash flow, whilst also complying with HEFCE
 and bank borrowing covenants.

These measures are considered in the University’s normal planning, budgeting and medium term forecasting 
cycle, in the development and implementation of its treasury policy, and the planning and execution of its 
Estates Strategy and wider programme of capital investment.

Risk analysis

A corporate risk and control register, covering business, operational and compliance risks as well as financial 
risks, is maintained throughout the year.

The key financial risk relates to student recruitment, where a number of external factors have the potential
to affect the University, principally:
• the impact of Brexit on student and staff recruitment, mobility, finance and loans, and research funding.
• changes in the legislative and regulatory environment relating to UK universities, including the increasing 
 liberalisation of the sector. Whilst the University believes that this direction of travel has the potential to 
 benefit the University, this will only be the case if a level playing field is maintained amongst public 
 providers and between public and private providers, and the Government continues to acknowledge the 
 benefits of university education for social mobility across all sections of the population, and for the UK 
 economy as a whole.
• Government rhetoric and measures, such as targets on immigration which continue to include students
 coming to the UK for specified periods of study.
• any changes to its current status as a highly trusted sponsor, as licensed by UKVI.

The University’s largest single cost is staffing and developments such as the ongoing reform of public sector 
pensions and actuarial valuations of the respective schemes in which the University’s employees are 
members could therefore have a significant impact on financial performance. 

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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Treasury management

The University manages its financing and exposure to financial risk. The University’s formal financial strategy 
sets minimum liquidity levels in order to ensure that sufficient financial flexibility is maintained.

The security of cash deposits is of paramount importance, and the University’s Treasury Management Policy 
therefore permits accounts and deposits to be held only with UK high street clearing banks.

The secondary consideration with regard to cash deposits is income. The University seeks to optimise its
return through fixed term deposits of varying maturities whilst ensuring that it has sufficient liquidity available 
to meet day-to-day operational needs and investment commitments, without recourse to overdraft facilities.

Each year, as part of its normal planning processes, rolling five year financial forecasts are prepared. This
process incorporates a review of capital expenditure and cash generation, thus enabling any necessary
borrowing requirements to be considered and, if necessary, negotiated well in advance of need. Regular
meetings are held with the University’s banking partners to ensure that they are kept apprised of developments 
and have sufficient comfort and confidence in the University to provide funding, should the need arise.

The University seeks a balance in its borrowings, between those at fixed rates of interest and those at
variable rates, having regard to current and expected interest rate levels.

Financial review

The consolidated financial performance is summarised as:

2017
£m

2016
£m

Income 112.5 113.4

Operating expenditure before pension costs 109.9 111.8

Surplus for the year before pension costs 2.6 1.6

Pension costs adjustment to Statement of Comprehensive Income (1.6) (0.9)

Surplus for the year 1.0 7

Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Income

Tuition fee income remained broadly flat, despite the increasing challenges faced across the sector, however 
there are a number of offsetting factors underneath this headline performance, with growth in income from 
UK and EU students offsetting a decrease in income from international students.

The market for UK full-time undergraduates is increasingly competitive, and the University has addressed this 
through a number of initiatives, including the launch of study centre models of delivery in conjunction with 
UK partners with a track record in the sector, as well as expanding its offering to students through foundation 
years study and foundation degrees. The success of these initiatives is reflected in the increases in income 
from UK and EU students in both full-time study of £1.5m (2.3%) and in part-time study of £0.4m (9.9%). 

Recruitment of international students continued to be adversely affected by ongoing UKVI measures,
particularly in the markets where the University has traditionally been able to recruit strongly.

The University has traditionally performed strongly under its contracts with NHS commissioning bodies,
however budgetary pressures on these bodies is creating a more challenging environment, particularly for
study amongst qualified (post-registration) NHS staff. This contributed to a fall of £0.3m (2.4%) in income
from NHS contracts.

Funding body grants fell by £2.2m year on year, which was in line with expectations. The decrease included 
£1.8m relating to recurrent HEFCE grants, principally for teaching (£0.3m), retention (£0.9m) and widening 
participation (£0.2m). A further £0.6m fall was attributable to the ending of the franchise partnership with 
the British School of Osteopathy, which gained its own degree-awarding powers for 2016/17.

The emphasis on research activity which had contributed to a strong showing in the 2016 REF increase
continued into 2016/17, with a growth in income from research grants and contracts of £0.6m, which
represented a growth of 18.3% on 2015/16. The total income of £3.6m represents the highest ever level for 
the University, with strong performance in the fields of social work, child protection and applied computing.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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Other operating income increased by £1.0m, primarily as a result of growth in income from overseas
partnerships of £0.6m (14.6%) and in commercial activity with government bodies and industry of £0.4m 
(67.8%).

Investment income decreased in the year reflecting lower interest rates available on deposits following the
reduction in the Bank of England base rate from August 2016.

Expenditure

The cost environment remains challenging, particularly for staff costs where pay rises and increased
employer pension contribution rates continue to exert upward pressure on pay relative to income. There
was a slight reduction in overall staff numbers and a change in the staff mix to help the University retain its
focus on the student experience. Total staff costs remained flat overall.

The University continues to monitor and review non-pay expenditure in all areas of activity to ensure value
for money. Overall other operating expenses increased by £0.2m (0.7%), thus below the rate of increase
Consumer Prices Index of 2.6% over the same period.

The standard depreciation charge for the year increased by £1.1m as a result of the New Library at the
Luton Campus which opened in July 2016, and where a full year’s depreciation was therefore charged in
the current year.

In addition to standard depreciation, the University has been charging additional depreciation on properties
and blocks which were to be affected by the Estates Strategy. The decrease in the charge of £0.4m reflects 
the phasing of the Estates Strategy works, and the timing of receipt of planning permission and the
commencement of construction activity. The charge in the year related solely to buildings which were to be
demolished to enable construction of the STEM building. At 31 July 2017 there were no properties or
blocks which were still subject to accelerated depreciation. 

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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Balance sheet

Fixed assets

Fixed asset additions in the year totalled £6.6m, 
excluding notional service concession accounting
adjustments. The additions of £6.6m, included £3.0m
relating to the initial phases of the construction of 
the STEM Building at the Luton Campus, £0.6m 
for the installation of a combined heat and power 
(CHP) system at the Bedford Campus and £0.4m 
to further enhance facilities for the Students’ 
Union across both main campuses.

Debtors

The balances for trade debtors increased by £4.5m, reflecting the high level of registrations in the latter half
of the year, notably at UK study centres. Prudent provisions continue to be maintained against student and
commercial debt, taking in to account the age and nature of the debt.

The decrease of £0.8m in accrued income is the result of changes in the timing of invoicing to partner
institutions.

Other receivables include an amount of £0.8m being claimed from HMRC in relation to VAT paid on overseas 
agents’ commissions prior to 2010, following a challenge by UK higher education institutions, and where a 
tribunal has found in favour of the sector.

Creditors falling due within one year

Creditors have increased by £4.2m compared to the prior year, principally as a result of movements in:
• financial commitments of £1.9m, including notional amounts not actually payable.
• trade payables of £1.0m, including £0.6m in payments received for students for study in 2016/17 but
 where registration had not taken place by the end of the financial year.
• accruals of £1.1m including:
 – an increase of £1.5m for staff related costs relating to salaries for visiting staff on fixed term contracts 
  and changes in the pattern of annual leave entitlement usage amongst permanent staff
 – an increase in general accruals of £0.9m reflecting maintenance and repair costs, and bursaries
  payable to students who registered in the spring and summer.
 – a decrease of £1.2m in capital accruals which reflects the relative stages of the respective Estates
  Strategy projects, in particular the fact that the 2016 balance sheet included £1.0m relating to the
  New Library, where construction was nearing completion. Whilst the STEM project was in progress
  at 31 July 2017, it was at an earlier stage of construction and hence the capital accrual was only
  £0.2m in the 2017 balance sheet.
• deferred income of £0.4m. This represents the net of movements in:
 – deferred tuition fee income, which increased by £1.6m, reflecting a year on year increase in the
  number of students who commenced their studies in spring and summer, including at study centres,
  and whose courses were therefore still in progress at the end of the financial year.
 – deferred research grant income of £1.2m, as a number of pre-existing projects have completed during 
  the year and the value of new contracts won has reduced.

Creditors falling due after more than one year

Creditors falling due after more than one year principally comprise loan facilities and capital grants, which
are released to income over the useful economic lives of the respective associated assets. The balance of
capital grants increased by £0.2m during the year, being the net effect of grant receipts of £0.8m and
releases to income of £0.6m.

Provisions

The University is continuing to provide for dilapidation costs which would be expected to arise on its leased
halls of residence and academic properties as and when the respective leases expire. The provision 
represents the discounted present value of the liability, calculated using current construction costs, expected 
rates of construction industry inflation and the University’s cost of capital. The increase in the provision in 
the year is primarily due to the unwinding of the discount as the period to expiry of the leases reduces.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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Pensions

The University’s share of the deficit in the Bedfordshire Pension Fund (BPF) section of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) decreased by £1.8m during the year as asset values increased by £9.9m (12.6%) 
while the present value of future liabilities increased by only £8.1m (6.8%).

The University has also reviewed the assumptions used by the actuaries in calculating the pension deficit,
including with reference to external surveys and benchmarking exercises, and through consultation with
actuarial advisers.

In addition to its ongoing service cost, the University is paying additional contributions to reduce the
accumulated deficit, based on the latest full actuarial valuation. The additional contributions in the year
totalled £1.1m.

Cash flow

Operating cash flow remained healthy and increased by £0.5m, with the increased surplus, depreciation
add back and working capital movements offsetting adjustments for other non-cash items such as service
concession costs.

It is the University’s intention to use its cash reserves and future operating cashflow to service its operational 
needs and to contribute at least half of the funding for planned future strategic capital projects, with the 
remainder being funded through existing loan facilities.

Outlook

The University remains confident that the initiatives and investment it has made in recent years, and
continues to make, will place it in a strong position to capitalise on the increasing liberalisation of the UK
higher education market. Early indications are that the University’s recruitment of UK and EU students for
2017/18 is in line with that achieved in 2016/17. This notwithstanding, there are a number of UK Government 
measures which have the potential to adversely affect the University’s progress, including:
• the freezing of maximum permitted fees at the 2017/18 level for the foreseeable future. The increase 
 which was permitted for 2017/18 represented the first increase since 2012, and helped to offset 
 inflationary pressures on costs. The decision to reverse the previous proposal for future conditional fee 
 increases will lead to an erosion of income in real terms, which in turn will require further tight cost 
 control, in order that surpluses and strong net operating cashflows are at least maintained.
• the level of future grant funding, following on from the cuts seen in recent years. Whilst the University 
 now receives a relatively small level of grant funding, this nonetheless remains an important source of 
 income to aid the delivery of high cost subjects which are vital for the future success of the UK economy 
 generally, and which form a key strand of the University’s future recruitment to STEM subjects.
• the change in the maintenance funding available to students, from a grant regime to a loan regime, has 
 the potential to dampen the appetite of potential students from non-traditional backgrounds. Whilst there 
 has not been any material adverse effect thus far on recruitment for 2016/17 or 2017/18 to date, it is 
 likely that this change will over time have a 
 disproportionate effect upon universities with 
 an access mission, such as this University.
• the continued inclusion of international student 
 numbers within the UK migration data means 
 that there remains a risk of lower international 
 student recruitment. The further tightening of 
 related thresholds by UKVI in relation to student 
 recruitment and completion rates in order for 
 sponsorship licences to be retained by UK 
 universities is likely to further dampen this 
 market, and may further impede such 
 recruitment by this University generally, and 
 particularly from territories where it has 
 previously had a strong presence.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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• the impact of the result of the 2016 referendum regarding the UK’s membership of the EU which will 
 result in the UK leaving the EU. Whilst the terms of the UK’s exit have not yet been announced, and are 
 subject to negotiation between the UK and the EU, it is expected that there will be an impact for the 
 University in relation to:
 – student recruitment. Following the lifting of the student number control from 2015/16, the University 
  has been able to expand its recruitment activity within the EU, with a strong foothold established in 
  2016/17 and indications of matching this position for 2017/18. Nonetheless, the perception of EU 
  applicants for 2018/19 and beyond may be affected, and could be compounded if students from EU 
  countries were subject to the same immigration controls and restrictions as are currently in place for 
  non-EU students.
 – research income as, in common with most UK universities, the University receives grant funding from 
  the EU for research projects, both on its own and in collaboration with other higher education institutions 
  in the UK and the EU itself.
 – staff recruitment as c10% of the University’s staff are from other EU member states. The uncertainty 
  regarding the rights of EU citizens may hinder the University’s ability to recruit to certain key posts, 
  particularly in specialised fields of academic study and research.

Pay costs remain the most significant expenditure for the University, and further upward pressure is likely
as a result of:
• incremental pay scales, which mean that a majority of staff receive pay awards additional to an inflationary 
 increase.
• the prospect of continuing pension deficits in the short- to medium-term, which will necessitate higher 
 contributions by the University as well as its employees, and will also impair the University’s asset base. 
 As well as improved life expectancy assumptions, the deficits continue to be affected by lower discount 
 rates, which lead to higher liabilities, and by reduced expected asset returns.

Whilst the University is forecasting to maintain a positive cash balance at the end of each financial year,
the timing of inflows within each year, particularly from the Student Loans Company, creates an imbalance
when compared to that of outflows, and this may place a strain on cash balances at certain times of the
year. The University has in place a revolving credit facility to assist in managing this pattern of cash flows.

REPORT OF THE GOVERNORS
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The University’s objectives, powers and framework of governance are set out in its Instrument and Articles
of Government. The University is directed by a Board of Governors who are also trustees. The Board of
Governors is unambiguously and collectively responsible for overseeing the University’s activities,
determining its future direction and fostering an environment in which its mission is achieved and the
potential of all students is maximised.

The Board of Governors ensures compliance with the statutes, ordinances and provisions regulating the
University and its framework of governance and, subject to these, it takes all final decisions on matters of
fundamental concern to the institution. The Board of Governors recognises that, as a body entrusted with
both public and private funds, it has a particular duty to observe the highest standards of corporate
governance at all times. In carrying out its responsibilities, it takes full account of the Committee of
University Chairs’ Governance Code of Practice and Principles, which it formally adopted in 2005. The 
Board of Governors also takes care to ensure that it complies with the revised Code of Practice and 
Principles that was published in March 2009.

The University is committed to demonstrating best practice in all areas of corporate governance. This
summary describes the manner in which the University has complied with the principles set out in the UK
Corporate Governance Code, issued in June 2010 insofar as they apply to the higher education sector. As
an independent corporation deriving its legal status from the Education Reform Act 1988, the University is
satisfied that it has complied with the provisions of the Code insofar as they are applicable.

The University is an exempt charity and is subject to the requirements of the Charities Act 2011. The
University confirms that it has had due regard for the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit and
that required statements appear elsewhere in these financial statements.

The Board of Governors comprises up to 25 members, including the Vice Chancellor. It has a majority of
independent members, who are external to the institution. The Board of Governors’ membership includes
both lay and academic persons, including student and staff representation.

The Board of Governors as a whole, individual governors and officers of the University are required to
conduct themselves at all times in accordance with the Nolan Committee’s standards in public life which
embrace selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. All governors 
are required to exercise their responsibilities in the interests of the institution as a whole rather than as 
the representative of any constituency. The University maintains and makes publicly available a register of 
interests of all members of the Board of Governors, and has established procedures for managing conflicts 
of interest where these arise.

In May 2005, the Board of Governors formally adopted a Statement of Primary Responsibilities. The
University does not publish an annual report but the Statement is published widely, including on the
internet, along with the names of key individuals and a summary of the responsibilities which the Board 
of Governors delegates to management and which are derived directly from the Articles of Government.

The roles of the Chair and the Vice Chairs of the Board of Governors are separated from the role of the
University’s Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive. Matters specially reserved to the Board of Governors for
decision are set out in the Articles of Government, by custom and under the Memorandum of Assurance
and Accountability with the Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE).

The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the Board of Governors and is ultimately responsible for its
effectiveness. The Chair is responsible for ensuring that the University is well connected with its stakeholders.

The Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive 
is responsible for advising the Board of 
Governors on strategic direction and for 
the management of the institution, and 
is the accountable officer in respect of 
the use of HEFCE funds. The Vice 
Chancellor and Chief Executive is 
accountable to the Board of Governors 
which has set down, and regularly 
reviews, the authority which it 
delegates to him, having regard to 
those responsibilities conferred directly 
by the Articles of Government.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS
Corporate governance covering the year 2016/17, including the period 
up to approval of the financial statements
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Conduct of business

The Board of Governors meets at least four times each year. One of these meetings is designated as a
strategy meeting.

The Board of Governors has established five standing committees to help it to take forward its work. 
These are:
• The Resources and Employment Committee
• The Audit and Compliance Committee
• The Student Experience Committee
• The Nominations Committee
• The Remuneration Committee

The Resources and Employment Committee, inter alia, recommends to the Board of Governors the
University’s strategic plans, the annual revenue and capital budgets, and the annual financial statements.
The Committee is also responsible for reviewing the development and implementation of the University’s
human resources strategy.

A summary of the Audit and Compliance Committee’s responsibilities for ensuring the efficiency and
effectiveness of systems of internal control is provided in a later section of this Statement on Corporate
Governance. The Committee also has oversight of the University’s arrangements for ensuring compliance
with legislation and regulations, including diversity, equalities, health and safety legislation, information and
data as they apply both to staff and students. It is also responsible for ensuring that the University complies
with the accountability requirements set out in the Financial Memorandum with HEFCE and those of other
funding bodies, together with the University’s Instrument and Articles of Government. It also ensures that a
register of interests is maintained and annually reviewed for governors and senior staff of the University.

The Student Experience Committee is responsible for reviewing arrangements for monitoring the
experience of prospective, present and past students and how the University gains their views and
incorporates them within its activities. It makes recommendations to the Resources and Employment
Committee on proposals for investment in student facilities and reviews the University’s strategies for
supporting the increased retention of students and establishing relationships with alumni. In consultation
with the Academic Board, it also ensures that rules are made with respect to the conduct of students,
including procedures for suspension and expulsion.

The Nominations Committee considers new appointments to the Board of Governors and its committees
and also ensures a balance of skills amongst governors that is sufficient to enable the Board of Governors
to meet its primary responsibilities and to ensure stakeholder confidence. The Committee specifies the role 
and capabilities required of new members, based on an ongoing evaluation of the balance of skills and
experience within the Board of Governors. Vacancies are widely publicised within and outside the institution.

The Remuneration Committee determines the annual remuneration of the Vice Chancellor and the Clerk 
to the Governors, and provides guidelines to the Vice Chancellor for determining the salaries of senior staff.
The Committee is also responsible for reviewing severance arrangements for senior staff, taking account of
guidance provided by HEFCE. The Vice Chancellor is a member of Committee but is not present for any
discussion concerning his own position.

All committees are required to report to the Board of Governors regularly, invariably after each committee
meeting. The Vice Chancellor also provides a report on key issues at each meeting. Senior staff of the
University are present at each Board of Governors meeting to expand on reports as appropriate and answer 
any questions that may arise. The proceedings of the Board of Governors are conducted in as open a 
manner as possible. Information and papers are restricted only when the wider interests of the University 
or the public interest demands, including the observance of contractual obligations. 

The Board of Governors keeps its effectiveness under regular review. It undertakes surveys of its own
effectiveness regularly; conducts a comprehensive effectiveness review every four years, and ensures that
a parallel review is undertaken by the Academic Board and its committees at least once every four years.
Effectiveness is measured against both the Statement of Primary Responsibilities, compliance with the
Governance Code of Practice and other guidance issued by the Committee of University Chairs and The
Leadership Foundation for Higher Education on the characteristics of effective governing bodies. A formal
report of the findings of the review is presented to the Board of Governors.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS
Corporate governance covering the year 2016/17, including the period 
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Newly appointed governors are offered individual induction programmes which include meetings with
senior staff of the University. Governors are provided with details of seminars and conferences arranged by 
the Leadership Foundation for Higher Education, HEFCE and other bodies. They are also encouraged to 
attend a wide variety of University events and are able to visit individual faculties, departments or classes.

Internal control

The key elements of the University’s system of internal control, which is designed to support the financial
responsibilities of the Board of Governors, include
• Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, senior officers of the University.
• A comprehensive short and medium term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual income, 
 expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets.
• A regular review of institutional performance and of financial results, involving variance reporting and 
 updates of forecast out-turns.
• Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure.
• Procedures for the management of investment and risk.
• A professional internal audit service, with terms of reference which reflect guidance issued by HEFCE, 
 and whose annual programme is approved by the Audit and Compliance Committee.

The Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for meeting, at least quarterly, with the external auditors 
and the internal auditor of the University, and reviewing their work. The Committee considers detailed reports 
together with recommendations for the improvement of the University’s system of internal control and 
management’s response and implementation plans. It also receives and considers reports from HEFCE 
and other assurance sources as they affect the University’s business and monitors adherence with the 
regulatory requirements, including the need for ensuring the quality of data returned for funding purposes. 
It reviews the University’s annual financial statements together with the accounting policies. Whilst senior 
staff of the University attend meetings of the Audit and Compliance Committee as necessary, they are not 
members of the Committee.

The Board of Governor’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is also informed by the
executive managers within the institution, who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of 
the internal control framework, and by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter 
and other reports.

Risk management

The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring that a sound system of controls is
maintained and reviews the University’s risk management policy annually to ensure that it remains effective
and fit for purpose. 

The following processes have been established:
• A strategic risk register is maintained and regularly reviewed against institutional objectives, and by the 
 Audit and Compliance Committee at each meeting and by the Board of Governors annually.
• The Vice Chancellor and his executive group oversee risk management processes.
• A corporate risk and control register, covering business, operational and compliance risks as well as 
 financial risks, is maintained throughout the year. Risks are prioritised according to defined criteria of 
 likelihood and impact.
• The Board of Governors requires regular reports from executive managers on the steps they are taking to 
 manage key risks as part of their ongoing operations, including progress reports on key projects and on 
 internal control activities.
• Risk management techniques are incorporated into the operational business of the University, including 
 the annual business planning process and the management of major projects.
• The Audit and Compliance Committee receives reports from the internal auditor on the adequacy and 
 effectiveness of specific aspects of the system of internal control together with recommendations for 
 improvement.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
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• The Internal Auditor reports annually to the Audit and Compliance Committee on its independent opinion 
 on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, together with recommendations for 
 improvement.
• The Audit and Compliance Committee receives comments made by the external auditors in their
 management letter and other reports.

Financial responsibilities of the Board of Governors

The Board of Governors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of the Higher Education Funding Council for England’s Memorandum of Assurance and
Accountability issued by HEFCE and applicable law and regulations.

They are required to prepare group and parent University financial statements in accordance with UK
accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. The Memorandum of
Assurance and Accountability further requires the financial statements to be prepared in accordance with
the 2015 Statement of Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education, in accordance 
with the requirements of HEFCE’s Accounts Direction to higher education institutions. The directors are 
required to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group 
and parent University and of their income and expenditure, gains and losses and changes in reserves for 
that period.

In preparing each of the group and parent University financial statements, the directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
 disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
• assess the group and parent University’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
 matters related to going concern; and
• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the group or the parent 
 University or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the parent University’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent University and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply
with relevant legislation and other relevant accounting standards. They are responsible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

The Board of Governors are also responsible under the Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability for:
• ensuring that funds from HEFCE and other funding bodies are used only for the purposes for which they 
 have been given and in accordance with the Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability and any 
 other conditions which HEFCE may from time to time prescribe;
• ensuring that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds 
 and funds from other sources; and
• securing the economical, efficient and effective management of the university’s resources and expenditure.

The Board of Governors is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial
information included on the University’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Mr Alan Cook CBE
Chair of the Board of Governors

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS
Corporate governance covering the year 2016/17, including the period 
up to approval of the financial statements



UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS19

 Governor Background Changes in period

Independent members

Mr Alan Cook CBE
Chair of Governors

Chair, LV=
Chairman, Chetwood Finance Ltd

The Rt Revd
Richard Atkinson OBE

Chair, Diocese of St Albans Board of Education
Trustee, Level Trust

Joined June 2017

Ms Sarah Davies Director, Alatus Ltd;
Group Chief Operating Officer, DARAG Group; and
Trustee, Mediation Herts

Mr Stuart Davies Partner, Disruptive Capital

Ms Alison FitzGerald Chief Operating Officer, London City Airport

Professor Michael Gunn Former Vice Chancellor, Staffordshire University; and
Governor, University of South Wales;

Joined September
2017

Mr Adrian Guttridge Director, Xchanging (Ins-Sure Services Limited) 

Mr James Measures Director, Housing Solutions Ltd; and
Director, Lyndhurst Gate Management Company Limited

Dr Steven Monger Godfrey Senior Partner, Grant Monger Godfrey;
Director, Naviscape (Epsom) Ltd
Director, 101 The Grove Ltd
Trustee/member, 
Royal British Legion Poppy Factory Ltd; and
Director, Priam Developments Ltd

Ms Ruth Mundy Interim HR Director, Cushman and Wakefield

Mr Ajay Patel Chief Financial Officer and Board Executive, 
The Book People

Dr Sue Pember OBE Policy Director, HOLEX (Adult and Community 
Learning Network);
Director, Sue Pember Advisory Services Limited;
Governance Review external advisor,
Newcastle University; and
Trustee, Education and Training Foundation; and
Court Member, University of Kent

Dr Phil Smith MBE Member of University Development Board,
Buckingham University;
Member of Health and Wellbeing Strategy Board,
MK Council; and
Chairman, MK Academy;

Ms Sarah Vawda Director & Shareholder, New Nutrition (Hamlet Protein); 
and Director & Shareholder, Vawda Associates Ltd

Mr David Whincup Partner, Squire Patton Boggs; and
Working Party Member, Civil Mediation Council

Joined June 2017

TRUSTEES AND MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS 2016/17
including the period up to the approval of the financial statements
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 Governor Background Changes in period

Mr Simon 
Yun-Farmbrough

Senior Advisor, Fenchurch Advisory Partners;
Executive Chairman, 360Globalnet Ltd;
Chief Financial Officer, SGDA Limited;
Adviser, Hulgrave;
Adviser, Creamfinance;
Treasurer, Child Action Nepal; and
Member of Investment Committee, The Royal Society

Co-opted members

Ms June Jarrett Retired Principal, Haringey Sixth Form Centre

Ms Jean Appleyard Treasurer, National Voices; and
Treasurer, Phoenix Cinema Trust

Nominees of the University’s staff

Mrs Judith Chappell Nominee of Academic Board

Dr Lucy O’Driscoll Nominee of the academic staff

Ms Filippa Vounatsou Nominee of the professional support staff

Nominees of Beds SU

Mr Joseph Daniels President, Beds SU Joined July 2017

Ms Tara Alade President, BedsSU Retired July 2017

Ms Nicola Hemmings Vice President (Education), Beds SU Joined August 2016

Vice Chancellor

Mr Bill Rammell Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive
Board member, Universities UK;
Board member, HE Careers Service Unit (Bedford);
Honorary Vice President, Harlow Football Club; and
Honorary Vice President, Harlow Rugby Club

TRUSTEES AND MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS 2016/17
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the University of Bedfordshire (“the University”) for the year
ended 31 July 2017 which comprise the Consolidated and University Statement of Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure, the Consolidated and University Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated
and University Balance Sheet and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the
accounting policies in the Statement of Accounting Policies.

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the University’s affairs as at 31 July 2017, and of 
 the Group’s and the University’s income and expenditure, gains and losses and changes in reserves, and 
 of the Group’s cash flows, for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial 
 Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and with the 2015 Statement of 
 Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education; and
• meet the requirements of HEFCE’s Accounts Direction to higher education institutions for 2016-17
 financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and 
are independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use 
of that basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. 
We have nothing to report in these respects.

Other information

The Board of Governors is responsible for the other information, which comprises the Report of the
Governors and Statement on Corporate Governance and Internal Controls. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work, we have not identified material misstatements 
in the other information.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE
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Board of Governors responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 18, the Board of Governors is responsible for: 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such 
internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the group and parent University’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless it either intends to liquidate the group or the parent University 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

We are required to report on the following matters under the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice (effective
1 August 2016) issued under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992.

In our opinion, in all material respects:
• funds from whatever source administered by the Group or the University for specific purposes have
 been properly applied to those purposes and managed in accordance with relevant legislation;
• income has been applied in accordance with the University’s articles of government for post 1992
 institutions; and
• funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in accordance with the Memorandum of Assurance and
 Accountability and any other terms and conditions attached to them.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Board of Governors, in accordance with the Articles, Charters, Statutes or
Ordinances of the institution. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Board of
Governors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
University and the Board of Governors for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Andrew Sayers
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL

29 November 2017
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1  Basis of preparation

  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended  
  Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015 and in accordance with Financial 
  Reporting Standards (FRS 102). The University is a public benefit entity and therefore has applied the 
  relevant public benefit requirement of FRS 102. The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
  with the historical cost convention (modified by the revaluation of fixed assets and derivative financial 
  instruments).

2  Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the University and all of its 
  subsidiaries for the financial year to 31 July 2017.

  Intragroup transactions are eliminated on consolidation and all income and expenditure relates to 
  external activities only.

  The consolidated financial statements do not include the income and/or expenditure of the students’
  union, Beds SU, as the University does not exert control or dominant influence over Beds SU’s policy 
  decisions.

  Associated companies and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

3  Income recognition

  Fee income

  Tuition fees and income receivable under education contracts are credited to the Statement of
  Comprehensive Income over the period of study pertaining to that income. Where fee discounts are 
  applied the income is shown net of the relevant discount.

  Bursaries and scholarships are accounted for as expenditure on a gross basis, and are not deducted 
  from income.

  Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
  when the goods or services are supplied to the external customers or the terms of the contract have 
  been satisfied.

  Revenue grant funding

  Government revenue grants, including funding council block grant and research grants, are recognised 
  in income over the periods in which the University recognises the related costs for which the grant is 
  intended to compensate. Where part of a government grant is deferred, the deferred element is 
  recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year 
  and creditors due after more than one year as appropriate.

  Grants (including research grants) from non-governmental bodies are recognised in income when the 
  University is entitled to the income and performance related conditions have been met. Income
  received in advance of performance related conditions being met is recognised as deferred income
  within creditors on the Balance Sheet and released to income as the conditions are met.

  Capital grants

  Government capital grants are recognised in income over the expected useful lives of the respective 
  assets.

  Capital grants received from non-governmental bodies are recognised in income when the University 
  is entitled to the funds, subject to any performance related conditions being met.

  Investment income

  Investment income, including interest receivable on cash balances and short term deposits, is credited 
  to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a receivable basis.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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3  Income recognition (continued)

  Donations and endowments

  Non exchange transactions without performance related conditions are accounted for as donations and 
  endowments. Donations and endowments with donor imposed restrictions are recognised in income 
  when the University is entitled to the funds. Income is retained within the restricted reserve until such 
  time that it is utilised in line with such restrictions at which point the income is released to general 
  reserves through a reserve transfer.

  Donations with no restrictions are recognised in income when the University is entitled to the funds.

  Income from, and changes in the capital value of, endowment investments are recorded in income in 
  the year in which they arise and as either restricted or unrestricted income according to the terms of 
  each relevant endowment fund.

  Funding received on an agency basis

  Funds which the University receives and disburses as paying agent on behalf of a funding body are
  excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income where the University is exposed to minimal
  risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the transaction.

4  Fixed assets

  General

  Fixed assets are stated at cost or deemed cost as set out below, less accumulated depreciation and 
  any accumulated impairment losses. Certain items of fixed assets that had been revalued to fair value 
  on or prior to the date of transition to the 2015 FE HE SORP, are measured on the basis of deemed 
  cost, being the revalued amount at the date of that revaluation.

  Where parts of a fixed asset have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
  fixed assets.

  Land

  Land is stated at deemed cost.

  Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life. 

  Freehold buildings

  Freehold buildings are stated at cost and are depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected 
  useful lives, up to a maximum of fifty years for each relevant component.

  Costs incurred in relation to buildings after initial purchase or construction are capitalised to the extent 
  that they increase the expected future benefits to the University.
  For new developments, design costs and professional fees are capitalised only when planning 
  permission has been received. Where planning permission has not been received by the Balance Sheet 
  date, costs and fees which have been incurred upon such prospective developments are recognised 
  within other debtors at the year end, and are either capitalised in a subsequent year, once planning 
  permission has been received, or are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the event 
  that planning permission is not received.

  Assets under construction are accounted for at cost and are not depreciated until they are brought
  into use.

  Equipment

  Equipment costing less than £10,000 is expensed in the year of purchase, other than where it constitutes 
  an integral and essential element of a larger project, including planned significant rolling replacement 
  programmes, in which case it is capitalised.

  Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over its expected useful life as follows:
   Furniture, fixtures and fittings               10 years
   Other office and teaching equipment  5 years
   Personal computers (PCs)   5 years
   Computer equipment other than PCs  5 years
   Leased equipment    Over the term of the lease

  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the date of preparation of each 
  Balance Sheet.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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  Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
  qualifying asset are capitalised.

5  Investment properties

  Investment properties comprise land and buildings held for rental income or capital appreciation rather 
  than for use in delivering services.

  Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value with movements
  recognised as part of the surplus/(deficit) for the year.

  Investment properties are not depreciated but are revalued or reviewed annually according to market 
  conditions as at 31 July each year. 

6  Service concession arrangements

  Service concession arrangements are recognised on the Balance Sheet within fixed assets at the
  present value of the minimum contractual obligations at the Balance Sheet date. A corresponding
  financial liability is recorded within creditors falling due within one year and creditors falling due after
  more than one year, as applicable. The University does not own, or have a direct interest in, any of the 
  assets pertaining to service concession arrangements.

  Changes in the value of the service concession arrangements are recorded as operating expenses
  within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

7  Heritage assets

  Acquisitions since 1 August 1999 have been capitalised at cost or, in the case of donated assets, at
  expert valuation on receipt.

  Heritage assets are not depreciated as their long economic life and high residual value mean that any 
  depreciation would not be material.

8  Investments

  Non-current asset investments are held on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost less impairment.

  Current asset investments are held at fair value with movements recognised as part of the 
  surplus/(deficit) for the year.

9  Stock

  Stock is held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

10 Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on 
  demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.

  Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts 
  of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. Therefore an investment will normally be classified as 
  a cash equivalent if it has a maturity of three months or less from the date of commencement.

11 Finance leases

  Leases in which the University assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
  leased asset are classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease and the 
  corresponding lease liabilities are initially recognised at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value 
  and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease.

  Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
  outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to
  produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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12 Operating leases

  Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any
  lease premiums or incentives are spread over the minimum lease term.

13 Maintenance of premises and equipment

  The cost of routine corrective maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
  incurred. The University may set aside sums to meet the expected dilapidation costs on leasehold 
  property.

14 Employment benefits

  Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as an
  expense in the year in which the employees render service to the University. Any unused benefits are 
  accrued and measured as the additional amount the University expects to pay as a result of the unused 
  entitlement at the end of the financial year.

15 Accounting for retirement benefits

  The three principal pension schemes of which the University’s employees are members are the
  Bedfordshire Pension Fund (BPF), the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Universities
  Superannuation Scheme (USS).

  Bedfordshire Pension Fund (BPF)

  The BPF is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (“LGPS”) and is accounted for as a defined 
  benefit pension scheme.

  The assets of the BPF are held separately from those of the University. Pension scheme assets are
  measured using market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method 
  and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and 
  currency to the liability. Any pension scheme deficit or asset is recognised in full. The movement in the 
  pension scheme deficit or asset is split between operating charges, finance items and actuarial gains 
  and losses.

  Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS)

  The nature and composition of the TPS means that the University is unable to identify its share of the 
  underlying assets and liabilities of the TPS on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore accounts 
  for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the 
  Statement of Comprehensive Income represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of 
  the accounting period.

  Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS)

  The USS is a multi-employer scheme for which it is not possible to identify the assets and liabilities to 
  University members due to the mutual nature of the scheme and therefore this scheme is accounted 
  for as a defined contribution scheme.

  A liability is recorded within provisions for any contractual commitment to fund past deficits within the 
  USS scheme.

16 Foreign currency

  Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to pounds sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling 
  at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
  balance sheet date are translated to pounds sterling at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. 
  Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the surplus/(deficit) for the year.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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17 Provisions

  Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:
  • the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event;
  • it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
  • a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

  The amount recognised as a provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
  a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability.

18 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

  A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the University a possible obligation whose
  existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 
  within the control of the University. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision 
  would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
  the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.

  A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the University a possible asset
  whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
  wholly within the control of the University.

  Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are disclosed in the Notes 
  to the Financial Statements.

19 Taxation

  The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. It is therefore 
  a charity within the meaning of Para 1 of schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010 and accordingly, the 
  University is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within 
  categories covered by section 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) or section 256 of the 
  Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively 
  charitable purposes.

  The University is partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, as its main activity is the supply of
  education which is an exempt supply for the purposes of VAT. Accordingly, it can only recover a minor 
  element of VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on supplies and services received is included 
  in the related costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. It is also added to the cost of tangible 
  fixed assets as appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible fixed assets by nature.

  The University’s subsidiaries are liable to Corporation Tax in the same way as any other commercial 
  organisation.

  Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet 
  date to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they 
  crystallise based on current rates and law. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of 
  income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they are 
  included in financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is considered 
  probable that the balance will be recoverable in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
  are not discounted. 

20 Reserves

  Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted endowment reserves include balances 
  which, through endowment to the University, are held as a permanently restricted fund which the 
  University must hold in perpetuity.

  Other restricted reserves include balances where the donor has designated a specific purpose and 
  therefore the University is restricted in the use of these funds.

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
for the year ended 31 July 2017

Consolidated University

Note
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Income
Tuition fees and education contracts 1 90,969 90,954 90,664 90,388

Funding body grants 2 8,250 10,439 7,888 10,009

Research grants and contracts 3 3,618 3,059 3,618 3,056

Other operating income 4 9,490 8,489 8,695 7,938

Investment income 5 127 364 127 364

Total income before endowments 
and donations

112,454 113,305 110,992 111,755

Donations and endowments 6 83 110 83 110

Total income 112,537 113,415 111,075 111,865

Expenditure
Staff costs 7 62,638 63,292 61,542 62,062

Other operating expenses 8 32,895 32,658 32,253 31,952

Service concession costs 11 4,545 6,179 4,545 6,179

Depreciation 11 9,313 8,189 9,311 8,187

Accelerated depreciation in respect of 
owned property 11 414 853 414 853

Interest and other finance costs 9 1,782 1,592 1,782 1,592

Total expenditure 111,587 112,763 109,847 110,825

Surplus before other gains and losses 950 652 1,228 1,040

Gain on disposal of investment property 24 - 24 -

Losses on disposals of fixed assets (9) (1) (9) (1)

Gains on investments 15 2 15 2

Surplus before tax 980 653 1,258 1,041

Taxation 10 - - - -

Surplus for the year 980 653 1,258 1,041

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of 
pension schemes 30 3,513 (9,812) 3,513 (9,812)

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

4,493 (9,159) 4,771 (8,771)

Represented by:
 Endowment comprehensive income 
 for the year

22 (1) 22 (1)

 Restricted comprehensive income for 
 the year

(10) (36) (10) (36)

 Unrestricted comprehensive income 
 for the year 25 4,481 (9,122) 4,759 (8,734)

Total comprehensive income for the 
year

4,493 (9,159) 4,771 (8,771)

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities.



UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS29

CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN RESERVES

Consolidated

Income and Expenditure Account Revaluation 
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

Endowment
 £’000

Restricted
£’000

Unrestricted
£’000

Balance at 1 August 2015 199 323 77,313 11,111 88,946

Surplus/(deficit) from the 
statement of comprehensive 
income and expenditure

(1) (36) 774 (84) 653

Other comprehensive income - - (9,812) - (9,812)

Other movements - - (28) - (28)

Release of restricted funds 
spent in year - - - - -

Total comprehensive income 
for the year (1) (36) (9,066) (84) (9,187)

Balance at 1 August 2016 198 287 68,247 11,027 79,759

Surplus/(deficit) from the 
statement of comprehensive 
income and expenditure

22 (10) 968 - 980

Other comprehensive income - - 3,513 - 3,513

Disposal of endowment funds (220) - - - (220)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year (198) (10) 4,481 - 4,273

Balance at 31 July 2017 - 277 72,728 11,027 84,032
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CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN RESERVES

University

Income and Expenditure Account Revaluation 
reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

Endowment
 £’000

Restricted
£’000

Unrestricted
£’000

Balance at 1 August 2015 199 323 77,574 11,111 89,207

Surplus/(deficit) from the 
statement of comprehensive 
income and expenditure

(1) (36) 1,162 (84) 1,041

Other comprehensive income - - (9,812) - (9,812)

Other movements - - (34) - (34)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year (1) (36) (8,684) (84) (8,805)

Balance at 1 August 2016 198 287 68,890 11,027 80,402

Surplus/(deficit) from the 
statement of comprehensive 
income and expenditure

22 (10) 1,246 - 1,258

Other comprehensive income - - 3,513 - 3,513

Disposal of endowment funds (220) - -  - (220)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year (198) (10) 4,759 - 4,551

Balance at 31 July 2017 - 277 73,649 11,027 84,953
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BALANCE SHEETS
as at 31 July 2017

Mr Bill Rammell
Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive

Mr Alan Cook CBE
Chair of the Board of Governors

Consolidated University

Note
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 11 143,566 144,744 143,562 144,741

Heritage assets 11 150 150 150 150

Investment properties 13 3,900 6,676 3,900 6,676

Investments 15 28 217 39 228

147,644 151,787 147,651 151,795

Current assets
Stocks 34 31 34 31

Trade and other receivables 16 11,785 7,221 12,587 7,782

Current asset investments 17 - 15,000 - 15,000

Cash and cash equivalents 42,157 21,095 42,051 20,867

53,976 43,347 54,672 43,680

Less: Creditors amounts falling due 
within one year 18 (27,887) (23,695) (27,669) (23,393)

Net current assets 26,089 19,652 27,003 20,287

Total assets less current liabilities 173,733 171,439 174,654 172,082

Creditors: amounts falling due after 
more than one year 19 (45,094) (45,305) (45,094) (45,305)

Provisions
Pension provisions 21 (40,210) (42,144) (40,210) (42,144)

Other provisions 22 (4,397) (4,231) (4,397) (4,231)

Total net assets 84,032 79,759 84,953 80,402

Restricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserves – 
endowment reserve 23 - 198 - 198

Income and expenditure reserve – 
restricted reserve 24 277 287 277 287

Unrestricted reserves
Income and expenditure reserve – 
unrestricted 25 72,728 68,247 73,649 68,890

Revaluation reserve 25 11,027 11,027 11,027 11,027

Total reserves 84,032 79,759 84,953 80,402

The financial statements on pages 28 to 53 were approved by the Board of Governors on 20 November 2017
and signed on their behalf by:
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Consolidated

Note
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year 980 653

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 11 9,727 9,042

Service concession (credit)/charge 14 (1,952) 1,472

Diminution in value of land and buildings 300 150

Loss on investments (15) (2)

(Increase)/Decrease in stocks (3) 6

(Increase)/Decrease in debtors (4,588) 1,742

Increase/(Decrease) in creditors 5,102 (3,156)

Pension costs – staff costs 7 475 (237)

Pension costs – interest charges 9 1,104 1,149

Increase in other provisions 166 333

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income (127) (364)

Interest payable 578 443

Deferred capital grants released to income (544) (566)

Profit on the sale of investment properties (24) -

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 9 1

Net cash inflow from operating activities 11,188 10,666

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets 2,500 1,325

Disposal of endowment cash (16) -

Investment income 150 230

Withdrawal of deposits 26 15,000 -

New current asset investments 26 - (15,000)

Payments made to acquire fixed assets (7,715) (17,253)

Deferred capital grants received 774 708

10,693 (29,990)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid (579) (425)

New unsecured loans 26 782 15,000

Repayments of amounts borrowed 26 (1,022) (911)

(819) 13,664

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 21,062 (5,660)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 26 21,095 26,755

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 26 42,157 21,095

CASHFLOW
for the year ended 31 July 2017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1  Tuition fees and education contracts

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Full-time UK & EU students 66,464 64,961 66,464 64,961

International students 9,100 10,370 9,100 10,370

Part-time students 3,992 3,634 3,992 3,634

NHS contracts 10,474 10,733 10,474 10,733

Full cost courses 308 601 3 35

Registration and examination fees 631 655 631 655

90,969 90,954 90,664 90,388

2  Funding body grants

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Recurrent grants

 Higher Education Funding Council for England 4,334 6,172 4,334 6,172

 National College for Teaching and Leadership 285 427 285 427

Specific grants

 Research grants 2,517 2,610 2,517 2,610

 Other grants 570 684 208 254

Release of deferred capital grants 544 546 544 546

8,250 10,439 7,888 10,009

3  Research grants and contracts

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Research councils and UK-based charities 1,014 786 1,014 786

Government (UK and overseas) 1,870 1,505 1,870 1,502

Industry and commerce 734 768 734 768

3,618 3,059 3,618 3,056
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4  Other operating income

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Residences, catering and conferences 2,595 2,496 1,849 1,855

Other services rendered 5,737 4,671 5,446 4,500

Release of deferred capital grants - 19 - 19

Other income 1,158 1,303 1,400 1,564

9,490 8,489 8,695 7,938

5  Investment income

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Investment income on endowments 4 14 4 14

Income from short-term investments 81 136 81 136

Bank interest 42 52 42 52

Other interest receivable - 162 - 162

127 364 127 364

6  Donations and endowments

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Donations with restrictions 79 109 79 109

Unrestricted donations 4 1 4 1

83 110 83 110

7  Staff costs

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Staff costs:

Salaries 49,184 51,030 48,296 50,062

Social Security costs 4,831 4,478 4,750 4,398

Other pension costs 8,148 8,021 8,021 7,839

FRS 102, Section 28 pension adjustment

 – Bedfordshire Pension Fund 653 (176) 653 (176)

 – Universities Superannuation Scheme (178) (61) (178) (61)

62,638 63,292 61,542 62,062

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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7  Staff costs (continued)

2017
Number

2016
Number

Average staff numbers by category:

 Academic staff 589 640

 Student support staff 345 384

 Other 247 253

1,181 1,277

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Emoluments of the Vice Chancellor:

 Salary 213 213

 Bonus 21 21

Remuneration excluding pension contributions 234 234

 Pension contributions 35 35

Total remuneration of Vice Chancellor 269 269

The remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions was in the 
following ranges:

Key management personnel

The Vice Chancellor’s Executive Group collectively represent key management personnel as they have 
the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the University. The 
remuneration paid, excluding pension contributions, and the full time equivalent number of staff who were 
members of the Vice Chancellor’s Executive Group were as follows:

2017
Number

2016
Number

£100,000 to £109,999 3 4

£110,000 to £119,999 1 2

£120,000 to £129,999 2 1

£170,000 to £179,999 1 1

£190,000 to £199,999 1 1

£220,000 to £229,999 1 1

9 10

2017 2016

 Key management personnel compensation (£’000) 1,587 1,675

 Key management personnel (FTEs) 11.0 11.9

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8  Other operating expenses
Consolidated University

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Staff related expenditure 1,679 1,863 1,639 1,827

Course consumables 364 392 357 380

Student related expenditure 5,762 5,422 5,749 5,369

Partner payments 4,547 5,699 4,539 5,675

Registration, examination and accreditation costs 223 286 206 214

Printing, reprographics and stationery 846 859 836 846

Books, periodicals and information services 1,179 1,394 1,178 1,392

Promotional costs 1,860 1,694 1,826 1,651

General office costs 1,343 1,476 1,339 1,456

Health and safety expenditure 81 64 81 61

Insurance 304 293 304 293

Legal and professional fees 3,607 3,860 3,347 3,632

Computer and equipment costs 2,574 2,788 2,540 2,726

Transport costs 322 342 322 342

Premises related expenditure 9,561 9,684 9,555 9,672

Diminution in value of land and buildings 300 150 300 150

Catering costs 1,236 1,486 1,032 1,411

Internal auditors’ remuneration – audit services 105 111 105 111

External auditors’ remuneration – audit services 64 80 59 75

External auditors’ remuneration – other services 131 19 127 15

Service concession release (4,545) (6,179) (4,545) (6,179)

Other expenses 1,352 875 1,357 833

32,895 32,658 32,253 31,952

All amounts are stated gross of irrecoverable input VAT at 20% as applicable. The net fee paid directly to
the external auditor for audit services is £53,000 (2016: £67,000).

9  Interest and other finance costs
Consolidated University

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Loan interest 578 443 578 443

Net charge on pension scheme 

 Bedfordshire Pension Fund 1,079 1,124 1,079 1,124

 Universities Superannuation Scheme 25 25 25 25

Other finance costs 100 - 100 -

1,782 1,592 1,782 1,592
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Taxation

The University did not incur a tax charge or credit in either the current or prior years.

At 31 July 2017 a deferred tax asset of £10,000 (2016: £10,000) was unprovided as it was not considered 
probable that the balance would be recoverable in the foreseeable future.

The University meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes as it is 
considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 schedule 6 Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the University 
is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered 
by Chapter 3 Part 11 Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, 
to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.
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11 Fixed assets (continued)

Land is stated at its carrying value under previous UK GAAP as its deemed cost on transition to FRS 102.

Buildings have been included at their historical cost.

In accordance with FRS102, Section 17, Heritage Assets totalling £150,000 (2016: £150,000) relating to The
Hockliffe Collection of early British children’s books have not been depreciated.

In addition to the properties included as fixed assets above, the University occupies sites in Bedfordshire
and Buckinghamshire in relation to the delivery of nursing contracts. These premises are used for teaching
and administrative purposes. The combined annual rental and utilities cost in the year ended 31 July 2017
amounted to £931,000 (2016: £990,000) and is included within other operating expenses.

12 Estates strategy

The University has an Estates Strategy which has been approved by the Board of Governors. The Estates
Strategy encompasses developments at the Luton, Bedford and Milton Keynes campuses over the period 
to 2020.

The principal phases of the Estates Strategy arising in the current and prior years which have received
planning permission, commenced and/or completed by 31 July 2017 are:

Commencement date Completion date

Luton Campus: New Library September 2013 June 2016

Luton Campus: STEM Building June 2016 April 2019

Further phases of the Estates Strategy continue to be assessed for feasibility. Properties which are expected
to be affected by the Estates Strategy are depreciated over their estimated remaining useful economic lives
having regard to the phasing of the Estates Strategy works, and the anticipated timing of receipt of planning
permission and the commencement of construction activity.

The accelerated depreciation charged in the year in respect of the properties affected by the current and
future phases amounts to £414,000 (2016: £853,000). The charge in the year related solely to buildings
which were to be demolished to enable construction of the STEM building. At 31 July 2017 there were no
properties or blocks which were still subject to accelerated depreciation.

13 Investment properties

Land and 
buildings

£’000
Fair value

 At 1 August 2016 6,676

 Disposals (2,476)

 Impairment (300)

At 31 July 2017 3,900

Investment properties are revalued or reviewed annually according to market conditions as at 31 July 
each year.
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14 Service concession arrangements

The University has two on balance sheet arrangements, relating to nomination agreements with its 
accommodation partners, as follows:

Nomination 
period end 

date

Rolling period 
of nomination 

agreement

Rooms nominated

2017 2016

Campus Living Villages 2048 1 year 818 500

Liberty Living 2027 3 years 350 350

The amounts recognised in the financial statements in respect of the service concession arrangements 
were as follows:

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Balance sheet

 Service concession assets 10,084 8,132

 Service concession liabilities (10,084) (8,132)

Statement of Comprehensive Income

 Charged in respect of commitments which commenced 6,497 4,707

 Released in respect of commitments which ended (4,545) (6,179)

 Net charge/(credit) 1,952 (1,472)

Future commitments

The following table analyses the University’s future commitments in relation to service concession 
arrangements.

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Not later than 1 year 6,453 4,545

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3,631 3,587

10,084 8,132

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



UNIVERSITY OF BEDFORDSHIRE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS42

15 Non-current investments

Subsidiary 
companies

£’000

Other 
fixed asset 

investments
£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Total
2016

£’000
Consolidated

At 1 August 2016 - 217 217 215

Revaluations to market value - 15 15 2

Disposal of endowment investments - (204) (204) -

At 31 July 2017 - 28 28 217

University

At 1 August 2016 11 217 228 226

Revaluations to market value - 15 15 2

Disposal of endowment investments - (204) (204) -

At 31 July 2017 11 28 39 228

The University owns 100% of the issued share capital of 1,000 £1 ordinary shares of University of 
Bedfordshire Enterprises Limited, a company registered in England and Wales and operating in the UK, 
whose principal activities are the provision of conferences, full cost courses and consultancy. 

The University owns 100% of the issued share capital of the following dormant companies, all of which 
are registered in England and Wales:
 1 £1 ordinary share in Bedford Business School Limited
 2 £1 ordinary shares in Bedfordshire Business School Limited
 1 £1 ordinary share in Milton Keynes Business School Limited
 1 £1 ordinary share in UoB Student Accommodation (Luton) Limited
 9,999 £1 ordinary shares in The Centre for Competitiveness Limited

16 Trade and other receivables
Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Amounts falling due within one year:

 Trade receivables 7,524 3,013 7,311 2,887

 Prepayments 2,532 2,530 2,514 2,525

 Accrued income 778 1,596 686 1,432

 Amounts due from subsidiary undertaking - - 1,125 856

 Other receivables 951 82 951 82

11,785 7,221 12,587 7,782

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17 Current asset investments

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Deposits maturing in one year or less - 15,000 - 15,000

- 15,000 - 15,000

Deposits are held with UK clearing banks licensed by the Financial Conduct Authority at the balance sheet 
date. The interest rates for these deposits are fixed for the duration of the deposit at the time of the placement.

18 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Loans repayable to funding council 121 121 121 121

Unsecured loans 1,005 794 1,005 794

Payments on account 1,002 1,371 1,002 1,371

Service concession arrangements (note 14) 6,453 4,545 6,453 4,545

Trade payables 4,121 3,163 4,088 3,143

Social security and other taxation payable 1,231 1,323 1,231 1,323

Accruals 8,145 6,996 8,062 6,917

Deferred income 4,626 4,189 4,514 3,976

Capital grants 521 491 521 491

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings - - 10 10

Other creditors (non HEFCE) 662 702 662 702

27,887 23,695 27,669 23,393

19 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Loans repayable to funding council - 121 - 121

Unsecured loans 27,933 28,263 27,933 28,263

Service concession arrangements (note 13) 3,631 3,587 3,631 3,587

Capital grants 12,923 12,700 12,923 12,700

Other creditors 607 634 607 634

45,094 45,305 45,094 45,305
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20 Loans

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Analysis of unsecured loans:

 Due within one year or on demand (note 18) 1,126 915 1,126 915

 Due between one and two years 1,008 919 1,008 919

 Due between two and five years 2,745 2,419 2,745 2,419

 Due in five years or more 24,180 25,046 24,180 25,046

Total unsecured loans 29,059 29,299 29,059 29,299

Total falling due within one year 1,126 915 1,126 915

Total falling due after more than one year 27,933 28,384 27,933 28,384

29,059 29,299 29,059 29,299

Interest payable on the loans is charged as follows:
 HSBC  2.89% fixed rate
 Barclays Bank Tranche A (i) 5.17% fixed rate
 Barclays Bank Tranche A (ii) 0.22% above LIBOR
 Barclays Bank Tranche B 5.34% fixed rate
 Lloyds TSB Bank 0.22% above base rate
 HEFCE Revolving Green Fund Interest Free 
 Salix Finance Ltd (SEELS) Interest Free 

21 Pension provisions
 

Bedfordshire 
Pension Fund

£’000 

Universities 
Superannuation 

Scheme
 £’000

Total
£’000 

At 1 August 2016 41,207 937 42,144

Utilised during the year (3,981) (485) (4,466)

Charged to income and expenditure 2,200 332 2,532

At 31 July 2017 39,426 784 40,210

Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) deficit

The obligation to fund the past deficit on the USS arises from the contractual obligation with the pension 
scheme for total payments relating to benefits arising from past performance. Management have assessed 
expected future growth in the number of employees within the USS scheme and salary payments over the 
period of the contracted obligation in assessing the value of this provision.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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22 Other provisions
 

Dilapidations
£’000 

Other
provisions

 £’000
Total

£’000 

At 1 August 2016 3,591 640 4,231

Utilised during the year (234) - (234)

Released to income and expenditure (41) (101) (142)

Charged to income and expenditure 530 12 542

At 31 July 2017 3,846 551 4,397

The dilapidations provision represents the anticipated costs of premises where the lease is due to terminate 
and/or the University plans to exit the premises.

Other provisions include amounts relating to potential tax liabilities.

23 Endowment reserve

Restricted net assets relating to restricted permanent endowments are as follows:

2017
£’000

2016
£’000 

Balances at 1 August 2016

Capital 189 187

Accumulated income 9 12

198 199

Investment income 9 9

Expenditure (2) (12)

Increase in market value of investments 15 2

Total endowment comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 22 (1)

Disposal of investments (204) -

Disposal of cash (16) -

Balances at 31 July 2017 - 198

Represented by:

Capital - 189

Accumulated income - 9

- 198

Analysis by asset

Fixed asset investments - 189

Cash and cash equivalents - 9

- 198

The above balance relates to the Steel Research Bursary fund which is used for supporting research students.
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24 Restricted reserves
 

2017
£’000

2016
£’000

Balances at 1 August 2016 287 323

New donations 79 109

Investment income 1 3

Expenditure (90) (148)

(10) (36)

Balances at 31 July 2017 277 287

Represented by:

Hedges Fund 90 90

Appeals Fund 59 54

Alexander Bursary Fund 47 46

Connolly Foundation 20 30

Sir Ian Dixon Memorial Fund 18 18

Dr Tony Wood Fund 20 20

Other Funds 23 29

277 287

The above funds are used for scholarships, prizes and bursaries.

25 Unrestricted reserves
 

Consolidated

Income and 
Expenditure 

Account
£’000 

Revaluation 
Reserve

 £’000
Total

£’000 

Balances at 1 August 2016 68,247 11,027 79,274

Surplus from the statement of comprehensive income 
and expenditure 968 - 968

Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes 3,513 - 3,513

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,481 - 4,481

Balances at 31 July 2017 72,728 11,027 83,755
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25 Unrestricted reserves (continued)
 

University

Income and 
Expenditure 

Account
£’000 

Revaluation 
Reserve

 £’000
Total

£’000 

Balances at 1 August 2016 68,890 11,027 79,917

Surplus from the statement of comprehensive income 
and expenditure 1,246 - 1,246

Actuarial gain in respect of pension schemes 3,513 - 3,513

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,759 - 4,759

Balances at 31 July 2017 73,649 11,027 84,676

26 Analysis of changes in net funds
 

Consolidated

At
1 August 2016
 £’000

Cash flows
£’000 

Other 
non-cash 
changes

£’000

At 
31 July 2017

£’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 21,095 21,062 - 42,157

Short term investments 15,000 (15,000) - -

Debts due within one year (915) 915 (1,126) (1,126)

Debts due after one year (28,384) (675) 1,126 (27,933)

Net funds 6,796 6,302 - 13,098

27  Contingent liabilities

The University has given written undertakings to support the subsidiary companies at twelve months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements.

28  Lease obligations

Total rentals payable under operating leases:

Land and 
buildings

£’000
Other lease

£’000

2017 
Total

 £’000

2016
Total

£’000 
Future minimum lease payments due:

 Not later than 1 year 2,514 36 2,550 3,014

 Later than 1 year and not later than
 5 years 3,766 117 3,883 5,596

 Later than 5 years 902 - 902 1,138

Total lease payments due 7,182 153 7,335 9,748
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29 Capital commitments
 

Consolidated University

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Commitments contracted 3,048 3,023 3,048 3,023

Authorised but not contracted 39,183 43,000 39,183 43,000

42,231 46,023 42,231 46,023

30 Pension schemes

Employees of the University and its subsidiaries belong principally to two pension schemes, the Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Bedfordshire Pension Fund (BPF). A small number of staff belong to the 
Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS). 

The total pension cost in the year, excluding the FRS 102, Section 28, pension adjustment was: 
 

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

TPS 3,682 3,659

BPF 3,981 3,905

USS 485 455

NHS - 2

8,148 8,021
 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

The TPS is a statutory, contributory, final salary scheme. As the University is unable to identify its share of 
the scheme’s assets and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis, the scheme has been accounted 
for in these financial statements as if it were a defined contribution scheme, as required by FRS102, 
‘Retirement benefits’. 

Actuarial reviews of the scheme are undertaken at four yearly intervals. The most recent actuarial review 
is being undertaken as at 31 March 2016, but had not been completed/published at 31 July 2017. The most 
recently published actuarial review was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and was published in June 2014.  
As a result of previous reviews both the employer’s and employees’ contribution rates were increased and 
from 1 April 2012 banded rates for employee contributions were introduced. 

The 31 March 2012 valuation increased the employer’s contribution rate to 16.48% from 14.10% with 
effect from 1 September 2015. The employee contribution rates are due for review as part of the valuation 
exercise undertaken as at 31 March 2016 including a consideration of a cost cap mechanism for employer 
contributions; it is expected that any changes to contribution rates arising from the 31 March 2016 valuation 
will take effect from 1 April 2019. 

The contribution rates for the prior, current and future years are set out below: 
 

From 
1 April 2015

%

From
 1 April 2016

%

From 
 1 April 2017

%

Employer’s 14.10 16.48 16.48

Employees’ - Minimum 7.40 7.40 7.40

 - Maximum 11.70 11.70 11.70
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30 Pension schemes (continued)

The principal assumptions used in the 31 March 2012 valuation and the summary of valuation of assets and 
accrued benefits were as follows:

Actuarial method Prospective benefits

Investment returns per annum 8.40%

Salary scale increases per annum 4.75%

Pension increases per annum 2.00%

Total value of assets at date of last valuation £176,600m

Proportion of members’ accrued benefits covered by the actuarial 
value of the assets 92.20%

 
Bedfordshire Pension Fund 

The Bedfordshire Pension Fund (BPF) is a funded defined benefit scheme with the assets held in separate 
trustee administered funds. The total contributions for the year ended 31 July 2017 were £5,203,000 
(2016: £5,141,000) of which employer contributions totalled £3,981,000 (2016: £3,905,000) and employee 
contributions totalled £1,222,000 (2016: £1,236,000).

The most recent full actuarial valuations of the fund were undertaken by a qualified independent actuary as 
at 31 March 2016. 

The results of the valuation undertaken as at 31 March 2016 have been updated to 31 July 2016 and 
31 July 2017 in actuarial valuations prepared for FRS 102 purposes by that actuary, and the information 
below has taken from those updated valuations. The major assumptions used in valuations for the previous 
year and the current year were:

2017
%

2016
%

Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.10 1.80

Rate of increase in salaries 2.80 2.70

Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.10 1.80

Discount rate for liabilities 2.60 2.60

Commutation to tax free lump sum

– pre April 2008 50.00 50.00

– post April 2008 75.00 75.00

Mortality assumptions

 Current pensioners - Males (years) 21.80 21.70

  - Females (years) 23.90 24.00

 Future pensioners - Males (years) 22.90 23.40

  - Females (years) 25.40 26.50

The discount rate is based upon a corporate bond yield curve appropriate to the duration of the liabilities.  
The discount rate has been based on a dataset of AA corporate bonds as maintained, measured and  
provided by actuarial advisers.
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30 Pension schemes (continued)

The agreed employer contribution rates for the previous, current and future years are as follows:

Rate
%

Additional
contribution

pa
£’000

1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016 16.0 1,128

1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 16.0 1,165

1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 18.0 1,024

 The employer’s contribution rate for the period after 31 March 2017 was determined as part of the actuarial 
valuation carried out at 31 March 2016.

The contribution rates payable by employees are banded according to levels of pensionable pay. The range 
of contribution rates payable is from a minimum of 5.50% to a maximum of 12.50%.

Scheme assets

The fair value of the University’s share of the scheme’s assets and the expected rates of return thereon are 
set out in the table below:

31 July 2017 31 July 2016

Long term 
expected rate 

of return 
% pa

Value
£’000

Long term 
expected rate 

of return 
% pa

Value
£’000 

Equities 2.70 51,248 2.60 61,185

Bonds 2.70 12,370 2.60 7,060

Property 2.70 7,953 2.60 7,844

Cash 2.70 16,788 2.60 2,353

88,359 78,442

 The scheme’s assets are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant 
change before they are realised.

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheets
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Scheme assets 88,359 78,442

Scheme liabilities (127,785) (119,649)

Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability recorded within 
pension provisions

(39,426) (41,207)

Current service cost 4,634 3,631

Past service cost - 60

Total operating charge 4,634 3,691

Analysis of the amount charged to interest payable:

Interest cost 3,156 3,699

Expected return on assets (2,077) (2,575)

Net charge to interest payable 1,079 1,124

Total charge to statement of comprehensive income before 
deduction of tax

5,713 4,815
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30 Pension schemes (continued)

Analysis of other comprehensive income
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Change in demographic assumptions 5,898 2,215

Change in financial assumptions (7,711) (17,518)

Other experience 461 832

Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest 4,865 4,659

Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in other comprehensive income 3,513 (9,812)

Analysis of the movements in the present value of the scheme 
liabilities

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Present value at the start of the year 119,649 98,492

Current service cost 4,634 3,631

Past service cost - 60

Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 3,156 3,699

Contributions by scheme members 1,222 1,236

Benefits paid (2,228) (1,940)

Change in demographic assumptions (5,898) (2,215)

Change in financial assumptions 7,711 17,518

Other experience (461) (832)

Present value at the end of the year 127,785 119,649

Analysis of the movements in the fair value of the scheme assets
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Fair value of assets at the start of the year 78,442 67,994

Interest income on plan assets 2,077 2,575

Contributions by scheme members 1,222 1,236

Contributions by the University 3,981 3,918

Benefits paid (2,228)  (1,940)

Return on assets excluding amounts included in net interest 4,865 4,659

Fair value of scheme assets at the end of the year 88,359 78,442

The estimated value of employer contributions for the year to 31 July 2018 is £4,187,000 (year to 31 July 2017:
£3,919,000).
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30 Pension schemes (continued)

History of experience gains and losses
2017

 £m
2016

 £m
2015

 £m
2014

£m
2013

 £m

Difference between the expected and 
actual return on assets

4.9 4.7 2.0 0.8 4.4

Experience gains and losses on scheme 
liabilities

(1.4) (14.5) (2.8) (0.6) (6.9)

Total amounts recognised in other 
comprehensive income

3.5 (9.8) (0.8) 0.2 (2.5)

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses (23.6) (27.1) (17.3) (16.5) (16.7)

Movement in deficit during the year
2017

 £’000
2016

£’000 

Deficit in the scheme at the beginning of the year (41,207) (30,498)

Current service cost (4,634) (3,631)

Contributions paid 3,981 3,918

Losses on curtailments and settlements - (60)

Net interest (1,079) (1,124)

Actuarial gains/(losses) 3,513 (9,812)

Deficit in the scheme at the end of the year (39,426) (41,207)

Universities Superannuation Scheme

A small number of staff belong to the Universities Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit scheme which 
is externally funded and contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P).  The assets of the scheme are 
held in a separate fund administered by the trustee, Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited.  

It is not possible to identify each institution’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme and 
so the exemptions of FRS 102, Section 28, ‘Employee Benefits’ have been used to account for the 
contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The cost recognised within the surplus for the year 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income is equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the year.

At the latest full valuation date of 31 March 2014, the value of the assets of the total scheme was 
£41,600m and the value of the total scheme’s liabilities was £46,900m indicating a shortfall of £5,300m.  
The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits which had accrued to members after 
allowing for expected future increases in earnings.

At 31 March 2017, USS had over 180,000 (2016: 180,000) active members and the University had 51 
(2016: 53) active members participating in the scheme.

The total pension cost in respect of the USS for the University for the year ended 31 July 2017 was 
£485,000 (2016: £455,000).  

The contribution rates for the prior, current and future years are set out below:

From 
1 April 2015

%

From
 1 April 2016

%

From 
1 April 2017

%

Employer’s 16.00 18.00 18.00

Employees’ - Final salary section 7.40 7.40 7.40

 - Career revalued benefits section 11.70 11.70 11.70
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31 Access funds and opportunity bursary funds

National College for Teaching 
and Leadership

2017
 £’000

2016
£’000 

Unspent brought forward at the beginning of the year 120 381

Grants received 871 701

991 1,082

Disbursed (757) (643)

Repaid to funding body (114) (319)

Balance unspent at the end of the year 120 120

The grants from the National College for Teaching and Leadership are available solely for students of the 
University.

In all cases the University has acted only as paying agent. The grants and related disbursements are 
therefore excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

32 Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being 
drawn from local public and private sector organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with 
organisations in which members of the Board of Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving 
organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s 
length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 
The University has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS102 not to disclose transactions with other 
members of its group who qualify as related parties.

The President of the University’s Students’ Union (‘BedsSU’) also serves as a Trustee of the University and 
member of the Board of Governors. BedsSU is an independent entity, and the University has no involvement 
in the running of this organisation. During the year the University made grant payments to BedsSU of 
£892,000 (2016: £895,000).

No transactions were identified which require disclosure under FRS 102, Section 33, ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’.

No Governor has received any remuneration or waived payments from the University or its subsidiaries 
during the year (2016: None).

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the Governors during the year was £1,270 (number: 4) (2016: 
£1,325 (number: 4)). This represents travel and subsistence expenses and other out of pocket expenses 
incurred in attending Governor meetings and charity events in their official capacity.
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Governor Board Attendance Committee Attendance

Independent members

Mr Alan Cook CBE 5/5 Remuneration: 1/1
Nominations: 2/2

The Rt Revd Richard Atkinson OBE 1/1 Student Experience: 2/4

Ms Sarah Davies 5/5 Student Experience: 4/4

Mr Stuart Davies 4/5 Resources and Employment: 4/4

Ms Alison FitzGerald 3/5 Audit and Compliance: 3/4

Professor Michael Gunn N/a Resources and Employment: N/a

Mr Adrian Guttridge 3/5 Resources and Employment: 2/4

Mr James Measures 4/5 Resources and Employment: 2/4

Dr Steven Monger-Godfrey 2/5 Resources and Employment: 2/4

Ms Ruth Mundy 4/5 Remuneration: 1/1
Resources and Employment: 3/4
Nominations: 1/2

Mr Ajay Patel 4/5 Resources and Employment: 2/3

Dr Sue Pember OBE 4/5 Nominations: 2/2
Student Experience: 3/4
Remuneration: 1/1

Dr Phil Smith MBE 1/5 Audit and Compliance: 3/4
Student Experience: 2/4

Ms Sarah Vawda 5/5 Audit and Compliance: 4/4

Mr David Whincup 1/1 Resources and Employment: N/a

Mr Simon Yun-Farmbrough 4/5 Audit and Compliance: 3/4

Co-opted members

Ms Jean Appleyard N/a Audit and Compliance: 4/4

Ms June Jarrett 3/5 Student Experience: 2/4

Nominees of the University’s staff

Mrs Judith Chappell 5/5 Audit and Compliance: 3/4
Nominations: 2/2

Dr Lucy O’Driscoll 4/5 Resources and Employment: 4/4

Ms Filippa Vounatsou 4/5 Student Experience: 4/4

ATTENDANCE OF GOVERNORS FOR 2016/17†
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Governor Board Attendance Committee Attendance

Nominees of Beds SU

Mr Joseph Daniels 1/1 Remuneration: 1/1

Ms Tara Alade 5/5 Audit and Compliance: 3/4
Nominations: 2/2 
Student Experience: 4/4

Ms Nicola Hemmings 5/5 Resources and Employment: 4/4
Student Experience: 4/4

Vice Chancellor

Mr Bill Rammell 5/5 Audit and Compliance: 3/4
Student Experience: 4/4
Remuneration: 1/1
Resources and Employment: 4/4
Nominations: 2/2

 †Attendance is shown only for Governors who held office at the time when meetings which they were eligible to attend were held.

ATTENDANCE OF GOVERNORS FOR 2016/17†



www.beds.ac.uk   +44 (0)1234 400400
Luton campus, University Square, Luton, Bedfordshire, United Kingdom LU1 3JU


